
Council Meeting
Agenda

12 December 2016



SUMMONS
To All Members of the Council

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the District Council to be held in the 
Council Chamber, Appletree Court, Lyndhurst on Monday, 12 December 2016, at 
6.30 pm

Bob Jackson
Chief Executive

Appletree Court, Lyndhurst, Hampshire. SO43 7PA
www.newforest.gov.uk

This Agenda is also available on audio tape, in Braille, large print and digital format

AGENDA
Apologies

1.  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 17 October 2016 as a correct record.

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To note any declarations of interest made by members in connection with an 
agenda item.  The nature of the interest must also be specified.

Members are asked to discuss any possible interests with Democratic Services 
prior to the meeting.

3.  CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

4.  LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

5.  REPORTS OF THE CABINET (Pages 5 - 8)

To consider the reports of the Cabinet dated 2 November and 7 December 2016 (to 
follow).



6.  QUESTIONS UNDER STANDING ORDER 22 

7.  QUESTIONS TO PORTFOLIO HOLDERS UNDER STANDING ORDER 22A 

To ask questions of Portfolio Holders. Members are reminded that questions must 
be submitted to the Chief Executive or to the Executive Head of Governance and 
Regulation by not later than noon on Friday 9 December 2016.

8.  MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES AND PANELS 

To consider any changes to the membership of Committees or Panels that might be 
proposed by the political groups.

9.  ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 



This page is intentionally left blank



1

17 OCTOBER 2016

NEW FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the New Forest District Council held in the Council 
Chamber, Appletree Court, Lyndhurst on Monday, 17 October 2016

* Cllr G C Beck (Chairman)
* Cllr Mrs C V Ward (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors: Councillors:

* A R Alvey
* Mrs D E Andrews
* W G Andrews
* P J Armstrong
 Mrs S V Beeton
 Ms R Bellows
* Mrs S M Bennison
* J E Binns
* G R Blunden
* D A Britton
* Mrs D M Brooks
* Mrs F Carpenter
* Mrs L D Cerasoli
* S J Clarke
* Mrs J L Cleary
* I C Coombes
* Ms K V Crisell
* S P Davies
* A H G Davis
* W H Dow
* Ms L C Ford
 R L Frampton
* A T Glass
* L E Harris
* M R Harris
 D Harrison
* J D Heron
* E J Heron
* Mrs A J Hoare

* Mrs M D Holding
 Mrs P Jackman
* M J Kendal
 Mrs E L Lane
 Mrs P J Lovelace
* B D Lucas
* Mrs A E McEvoy
* A D O'Sullivan
* J M Olliff-Cooper
* N S Penman
* A K Penson
* D M S Poole
* L R Puttock
* B Rickman
* W S Rippon-Swaine
* Mrs A M Rostand
 D J Russell
 Miss A Sevier
* M A Steele
 M H Thierry
* Mrs B J Thorne
* D B Tipp
 D N Tungate
 A S Wade
* R A Wappet
* J G Ward
* M L White
 C A Wise
* Mrs P A Wyeth

*Present

Officers Attending:

R Jackson, Miss G O'Rourke, C Read and Ms M Stephens

Apologies:

Cllrs Mrs Beeton, Ms Bellows, Harrison, Mrs Jackman, Mrs Lane, Mrs Lovelace, 
Russell, Miss Sevier, Thierry, Tungate, Wade and Wise.

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Council 17 OCTOBER 2016

2

30  MINUTES 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2016 be signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record.

31  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made in connection with an agenda item. 

32  CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Civic Day – 13 September 2016

The Chairman had hosted the annual Civic Day on 13 September 2016.  His guests 
visited Hoburne Bashley, Double H Nurseries in New Milton, the Cliff House Hotel 
at Barton-on-Sea and the Sammy Miller Museum in New Milton. The theme of the 
day was to promote the family-run businesses in the District and to demonstrate 
how the Council supported them. 

Freedom of the District Ceremony – 25 September 2016
 
The Chairman thanked all those Members and officers who had attended the event 
on 25 September at which the Freedom of the District had been granted to the 
17 Port and Maritime Regiment. The Chairman had written to the Council officers 
involved with the organisation to thank them for the thoroughness of their planning, 
as well as their partnership working with the military. It had been a first class 
ceremony of which the Council should be proud.  
 
Hampshire Village of the Year

The Chairman congratulated the village of Lyndhurst on the award of the 
Hampshire Association of Local Councils’ Hampshire Village of the Year.

Armistice Day Commemoration – 11 November 2016

All members were invited to attend an Armistice Day Commemoration event on 
Friday 11 November at Appletree Court. The ceremony would take place outside 
Committee Room 1 at 10.45 a.m. The Chairman, along with the Leader, and the 
Chief Executive, would lead a short service.

Chairman’s Awards 2016 - 8 December 2016

The Chairman announced the launch of the ‘Chairman’s Volunteers’ Awards’ which 
aimed to celebrate individuals and organisations who had given outstanding service 
to the people of the New Forest District. 

The emphasis of the awards was on voluntary action.  However, there would also 
be scope to pay tribute to those who went above and beyond the call of duty in the 
course of their paid employment.

Further information about this award would be sent to Councillors, asking them to 
nominate individuals or organisations they felt deserved recognition for their 

Page 2



Council 17 OCTOBER 2016

3

voluntary services to the community. The award ceremony would be held on the 
evening of 8 December 2016 at Appletree Court.

33  LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

There were none.  

34  REPORT OF CABINET 

The Leader of the Council, as Chairman of the Cabinet, presented the report of the 
meeting held on 5 October 2016.

On the motion that the report be received and the recommendations adopted, it 
was:

RESOLVED:

That the report be received and the recommendations be adopted.

35  QUESTIONS TO PORTFOLIO HOLDERS UNDER STANDING ORDER 22A 

Question 1: from Cllr J G Ward to Cllr Rickman, Leader of the Council

“During 2013 and early 2014,  a Task & Finish Group of the Corporate Overview & 
Scrutiny Panel, considered a proposal to reduce the number of Councillors from the 
current number of 60 to around 40.

The Task & Finish Group considered a number of options and eventually 
recommended a reduction. This Group’s recommendation was not accepted by the 
Panel or by the Full Council in April 2014. At the Full Council some members 
thought that as any change could not take effect until 2019, it was more appropriate 
to leave the decision on any reduction to the new Council (after the May 2015 
election).

Even though there is uncertainty about Local Government in Hampshire, does the 
Leader consider that this aspect (i.e. a possible reduction of Members from 60 to 
40) should now be reviewed and reconsidered, either by a Task & Finish Group set 
up by the Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Panel or a Task & Finish Group set up 
directly by, and reporting to, the Cabinet?”

Answer:

The Leader of the Council replied that a Task & Finish Group would be constituted 
to review this matter. 

36  MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES AND PANELS 

No changes to committees or panels were proposed by the political groups. 

CHAIRMAN

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



REPORT OF CABINET

(Meeting held on 2 November 2016)

1. COUNCIL HOUSING BUY-BACK AND DEVELOPMENT UPDATE 2012/13 – 
2015/16 AND FUTURE STRATEGY 2016/17 – 2018/19 (MINUTE 32)

Following a review of the Council’s performance in securing additional Council housing 
the Cabinet is recommending the adoption of a revised Housing Strategy to secure 
additional council-owned housing over coming years. 

To date, the sources of additional housing have been housing buy-backs, the 
development of new dwellings on Council owned land and the purchase of dwellings 
from private sector developers through partnership arrangements.

Over the past 4 years the majority of additional dwellings have been obtained through 
buying back former Council properties.  The original target of 100 has been exceeded 
with a total of 135 acquired by this means by the end of the 4th year of the current 
Strategy.  The lead-in time on new developments means that this source has, to date, 
made only a modest contribution, but is expected to play an increasing role in the 
future.  

While, in theory, purchasing housing units from private developers as their S106 
affordable housing contribution should be relatively easy, in practice it has proved 
more complex and time consuming than expected and has only so far contributed 4 
two-bedroom units in Milford on Sea.  This option will however continue to be explored, 
particularly in association with larger developments, such as that under Policy Ring3 at 
Ringwood.

The Council is currently losing around 30 properties per annum through the Right-to-
Buy and it is important that, at the least, this housing stock is replaced.  The Cabinet is 
very pleased with the progress that is now being made.

Changes to Government policy are being monitored and assessed for their potential 
effect on the Council’s ability to maintain its housing stock.  Recent policies have 
already had a significant effect on the financial context, with rents being required to be 
reduced by 1% per annum from 2016/17 for the next 3 years.  Planning policy changes 
mean that the Council can no longer require social housing contributions from 
developments of fewer than 10 dwellings, reducing the funding available from that 
source.  The Council Housing Finance Regime allowed the Council, as part of the 
overall financial package, to borrow funds to allow the provision of additional Council 
housing, but the annual repayments, of £4.1million, will become due from 2017/18.  
The repayments will be met from Housing Revenue Account reserves, reducing the 
ability to provide additional homes.

Other options for the provision of additional housing will continue to be explored as 
they became available.

RECOMMENDED:

That the Housing Strategy 2016/17 - 2018/19, as set out in Agenda Item 4 
considered by the Cabinet, be adopted.

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



2. REVIEW OF TOURISM SERVICES (MINUTE 33)

The Cabinet has agreed that significant changes should be made to the delivery of 2 
aspects of the tourism service, following a detailed review of options, as set out in 
Report item 5 considered by the Cabinet.  At this stage the principle of the model for 
future delivery has been agreed, which will allow more detailed negotiations to 
continue with key partner organisations over the coming months.

The Council has a continuing commitment to promoting business development in the 
area and the tourism industry will remain a key component of that.

With the growth in the use of the Internet and electronic means of accessing 
information about an area and to book accommodation, the role of visitor information 
centres has reduced considerably over recent years.  The number of visitors to the 
Visitor Information Centre at Lyndhurst has reduced by around 50% and it no longer 
has any meaningful role in the booking of accommodation.  The main residual roles for 
the Visitor Information Centre’s staff are therefore in sales and in providing information 
and advice to visitors.  Negotiations are continuing with the 9th Centenary Trust on 
what additional roles they might be prepared to take on.  The sales element of the VIC 
business generates opportunities to earn commission and could therefore be attractive 
to the Trust.  The Cabinet are also aware that, elsewhere in the District, other models 
for the delivery of visitor information have evolved and provide this service in a more 
targeted and cost-effective way to meet the needs of local businesses.

The proposal to withdraw the Visitor Information Centre does not affect the overall 
operation of the New Forest Visitor Centre in Lyndhurst, which is run by the 9th 
Centenary Trust.  The Cabinet was reassured that the Trust will not be prejudiced 
financially by the withdrawal of the Visitor Information Centre from their building.

Consultations with the New Forest Tourism Association have established that they no 
longer consider that the Visitor Information Centre is essential to support the tourism 
industry, provided that the Forest continues to be marketed effectively as a destination 
for visitors.

The comments of consultees and employees are set out in Appendix 1 to the report to 
the Cabinet.

The Cabinet went on to consider proposals for changes to the marketing of the New 
Forest as a destination for visitors to the New Forest and has agreed that the model for 
delivery should change, with the establishment of a stand-alone Company under the 
auspices of the New Forest Tourism Association to take on this role in future.  The 
proposals, together with consultee responses, including the views of employees, are 
set out in Appendix 2 of Agenda Item 4 to the Cabinet.  There would be a transitional 
funding arrangement for 3 years to allow the Company to become established.

The New Forest Tourism Association considers that destination marketing, and the 
promotion of information to allow visitors to access local businesses and attractions, is 
essential.  The website run and hosted by this Council is particularly important in this 
respect.

Page 6



The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Panel had considered this issue in detail.  The 
Panel strongly supported both the withdrawal of the Council-run visitor information 
centre in Lyndhurst and the transfer of destination marketing to a stand-alone 
company under the auspices of the New Forest Tourism Association.  They suggested 
that the New Forest National Park Authority should be requested to redeploy some of 
its mobile visitor information resource to Lyndhurst; and also that the Council should 
seek observer representation on the Board of the proposed new Company to ensure 
proper oversight of the public funds invested in the enterprise in the first 3 years of 
operation.

3. STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER (MINUTE 34)

The Cabinet has adopted an updated strategic risk register following its review to 
ensure that it is consistent with the Council’s new corporate plan “Our Corporate Plan 
2016-2020”.  In addition, the strategic risk register will now reflect the priorities set out 
in the Corporate Delivery Plan and Portfolio Plans.  It is important that the strategic risk 
register recognises the most significant risks to the Council in achieving the priorities 
set out in the Corporate Plan.

The continuing financial constraints imposed by Government policy remain the over-
riding risk to the delivery of the Council’s objectives.

The strategic risk register is part of the Council’s overall risk management framework, 
which is required by Government Regulations.

The revised strategic risk register, which again takes a pragmatic and proportionate 
approach to this requirement, is attached as Appendix 2 to the report considered by 
the Cabinet.  

4. FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT BASED ON PERFORMANCE TO OCTOBER 
2016 (MINUTE 35)

The Cabinet has been updated on the Council’s financial performance to October 
2016.

Further positive variations of £1.061 million have been identified against the General 
Fund budget, together with new budget requirements of £279,000.  Further details are 
set out in Section 3 of the report to the Cabinet.  The estimated outturn on the General 
Fund is now £15.756 million.  Once again there are significant elements of projects 
being rephased, which will affect future year’s budgets.

A combination of additional budget requirements of £100,000 and the rephasing of 
£2.95 million to future years has reduced this year’s Capital Programme to £21,343 
million, as set out in Section 4 of the report to the Cabinet.

The Housing Revenue Account currently shows a variation of £1.9 million, largely as a 
result of delays in the major repairs programme under the Capital Programme, which 
is financed from the Revenue Account.  Further details of the variations are set out in 
Section 5 of the report to the Cabinet.

Page 7



The Cabinet has welcomed the continuing progress being made towards achieving 
essential savings, while protecting the delivery of front line services.

RECOMMENDED:

That the new budget requirements set out in sections 3.5 and 4.3 of Report Item 
7 considered by the Cabinet be approved.

Councillor B Rickman
CHAIRMAN

Page 8


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Reports of the Cabinet

